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} 

(JX-48C at 179, 199); The administrative law judge finds that the { 

} (See CX-48 at 194-199.) The administrative law judge further finds that the 

said testimony shows only that the { 

} 

{ 
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{ 

} (JX-48C 

at 86:14-96:6 and 189:21-198:22; Tr. at 1385:17 -1386:14.) 

Based on the foregoing, the administrative law judge finds that the{ 

} The administrative law judge further finds that complainants have not shown, by 

preponderance of the evidence, that the{ } based handsets infringe claim 4, either 

literally or under the doctrine of equivalents, due to its dependence on independent claim 3. 

G. Validity 

The underlying law a validity is found in Section IV G supra. 

Respondents argued that InterDigital does not dispute that each individual element of the 

asserted claims of the '579 patent is disclosed in the 3GPP Document No. R1-02-0463 entitled 

"Way Forward on HS-SCCH" (Motorola Way Forward Proposal; RX-59), 3GPP Document No. 

R1-02-0482 entitled flUE specific masking for HS-SCCH" (Siemens 482 Proposal; RX-60), and 

3GPP Document No. R1-02-061O entitled "Performance of the HS-SCCH" (Motorola 610 

Proposal; RX -1214); that InterDigital cannot dispute that the exact combination of elements 
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recited in claims 1, 3 and 4 was known to those skilled in the art, except for the specific 

combination that uses the disclosed 112 rate convolutional encoder to process the 16 bit DE ID in 

addition to the 16-bit Part 1 information for which the 12 convolutional encoder was previously 

used; that the invalidity ofthe '579 patent therefore turns on a single question: would it have 

been obvious to one skilled in the art to substitute the disclosed 112 rate convolutional channel 

encoder for the Reed Muller channel encoder that was previously used in order to accommodate 

a 16 bit DE ID (as opposed to the previously used 10 bit UE ID); and that the answer to this 

question is undoubtedly yes. (RBr at Sec. III, p. 53.) 

According to respondents, for a 16 bit input, one of ordinary skill in the art would have 

had every reason to at least to try the existing 12 rate convolutional encoder to produce a 40 bit 

scrambling sequence from the 16 bit DE ID because the existing 12 rate convolutional encoder (i) 

was "staring oat one's face" from the front page of the Motorola Way Forward Solution, the 

Siemens 482 proposal, and the Motorola 610 proposal, (ii) would have allowed complete reuse of 

functionality already existing in the 3GPP standard, and (iii) would have been expected to 

function well because the separation (Hamming Distance) properties of the code output by a 12 

rate convolutional encoder do not change based on the nature (as opposed to the length) of the 

input. (RBr at Sec. III, pp. 54-55.) 

Complainants argued that respondents have not met their burden of demonstrating, by 

clear and convincing evidence, that any of claims 1, 3, and 4 of the '579 patent is invalid in view 

of the Way Forward Proposal (RX-59), the Siemens 482 Proposal (RX-60), and the Motorola 

610 Proposal (RX-1214). (CBr at 116.) According to complainants, respondents' expert Kakaes 

acknowledged that an essential element, i.e., "a 12 rate convolutional encoder," in each asserted 
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Working Group No.1 (RAN WGl) Meeting No. 24. (RX-59 at 1.) It is undisputed that 

complainants' expert Gitlin testified that said reference (RX-59) does not disclose any means of 

scrambling sequence generation and instead discloses that the method for generating the UE-ID 

based scrambling sequence is to be determined. (CFF 4.10 and 4.16 (both undisputed); see also 

RX-59 at 1 ("The post convolutionally encoded Part-l is scrambled by the UE ID as shown in 

Figure 2. The type of scrambler is TBD.") (emphasis added).) It is also undisputed that 

respondents' expert Kakaes admits that in spite of "staring them in the face," Motorola in said 

reference did not propose using a half-rate convolutional encoder to generate the scrambling 

sequence. (CFF 4.6 (undisputed).) 

The Way Forward proposal (RX-59) "outlines a way forward dn designing an HS­

SCCH." (RX-59 at 1.) Said proposal discloses that data is subjected to "R=1I2 Convolutional 

Coding," followed by "Rate Matching." (RX-59 at Fig. 1.) The output of the "R=1I2 

Convolutional Coder + Rate Matcher" is then "scrambled by the UE ID .... " (RX-59 at 1, Fig. 2.) 

Thus, the 112 mte convolutional encoder disclosed in the Way Forward proposal is used to 

encode data prior to applying a UE ID specific scrambling sequence. (RX-59 at 1.) 

The Siemens 482 Proposal was also presented at the 3GPP RAN WG 1 Meeting No. 24. 

(R.X-60 at 1.) It is undisputed that complainants' expert Gitlin testified that said reference 

(RX-60) does not disclose use of a half-rate convolutional code as a scrambling sequence 

generator and that respondents' expert Kakaes admits Siemens in said reference did not propose 

using a half-rate convolutional encoder to generate a scrambling sequence. (CFF 4.7 and 4.11 

(both undisputed).) Instead, the administrative law judge finds that said reference discloses a 

(32, 10) Reed-Muller block encoder that converts a 10 bit UE ID into a 32 bit output. (RX-60 at 
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1; Tr. at 1868.) It is undisputed that the (32, 10) Reed-Muller block encoder was already defined 

in the 3GPP standard for accepting a 10 bit input value and producing a 32 bit output value. (CFF 

4.45 (undisputed).) In order to generate a 40 bit UE ID based scrambling sequence, the Siemens 

482 Proposal discloses repeating the first eight bits of the 32 bit output from the Reed-Muller 

block encoder and appending those repeated bits to said output. (CFF 4.20 and 4.47 (both 

undisputed).) Said proposal notes that "[t]he 'way forward' document leaves [the scrambling] 

function TBD [to be determined]." (RX-60 at 1.) 

The Motorola 610 Proposal was also presented at the 3GPP RAN WG 1 Meeting No. 24. 

(RX 1214 at 1.) Again, it is undisputed that complainants' expert Gitlin testified that said 

reference (RX-1214) does not disclose use of a half-rate convolutional encoder as a scrambling 

sequence generator and that respondents' expert Kakaes admits that Motorola in said ,~eference 

did not propose using a half-rate convolutional encoder to generate a UE ID-spedfic scrambling 

sequence. (CFF 4.8 and 4.12 (both undisputed).) Instead, the administrative law judge finds that 

said reference also discloses a (32, 10) Reed-Muller block encoder that converts a 10 bit UE ID 

into a 32 bit output. (RX-1214 at 1; Tr. at 1868:22-1869:8.) Similar to the Siemens 482 

Proposal, the Motorola 610 Proposal discloses repeating the first eight bits ofthe 32 bit output 

and appending those repeated bits to the output in order to generate a 40 bit UE ID based 

scrambling sequence. (CFF 4.24 (undisputed).) 

The administrative law judge finds that at the next RAN WG 1 Meeting, Meeting No. 25, 

certain RAN WG 1 members pointed out that other 3GPP working groups used a 16 bit identified 

rather than a 10 bit UE ID in their standard specifications, and a discussion took place on the 

issue in general. (RX-62 at 9; Tr. at 1341: 1-4.) The administrative law judge further finds that in 
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the following RAN WG 1 Meeting No. 26, representatives from several companies, including 

Interdigital, proposed solutions for generating a user specific scrambling sequence using a 16 bit 

UE ID. (CX-255 at 9-10; Tr. at 774-788.) It is undisputed that InterDigital was the only company 

at that time, among the large number of attendees, to propose a solution that generates the user 

specific scrambling sequence using a one-half rate convolutional encoder, as recited in claims 1, 

3, and 4 ofthe '579 patent. (CFF 4.57 and 4.113 (both undisputed).) Moreover, testimony of 

complainants' expert Gitlin shows that at the time of invention of the '579 patent, there were a 

number of different families of available encoders known in the art; that within each of these 

families there are a large number of parametric variations so that the set of possible encoders 

even larger; that performance as a channel encoder is not an indictor of performance as a 

scrambFng sequence generator; and that work must be done in comparing the performance of 

two. candidate scrambling sequence generators. (Tr. 1867-1869; 1902-1903.) 

Respondents argued that the use of a 'l2 convolutional encoder was the most obvious 

option for generating a scrambling sequence from a 16 bit. (RBr at Sec. III, pp. 54-56.) The 

claimed invention however uses a 112 rate convolutional encoder to generate a scrambling 

sequence from a 16-bit user identification. The cited references disclose only the use of a block 

code to generate a scrambling sequence from a 10-bit user identification. Moreover on February 

13,2004, complainants filed a continuation patent, application no. 101779,431 (the '431 . 

application) (CX-25), which claims priority from the '579 patent. Id., and which issued as u.S. 

Patent No. 7,349,540. (CX-26.) The '431 application shares a common specification with the 

'579 patent. Id. The Examiner in charge of said continuation application determined that its 

pending claims were sufficiently overlapping in scope with claims I-lOin the' 579 patent as to 
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warrant double patenting rejections under 35 U.S.C. §101. (CX-0025 at IDC-ITC-010495644 45 

("claiming the same invention as that of claims 1-10 of prior U.S. Patent No. 6,973,579")) To 

obviate these double patenting rejections, InterDigital filed a terminal disclaimer to the '579 

patent. (CX-25, at IDC-ITC-OI0495633.) In the next Office Action, the Examiner allowed all of 

the pending claims in the continuation application. (CX-25, at IDC-ITC-010495597-602.) 

Significantly, the Examiner in charge of the continuation application considered Kakaes's 

October 17,2007, invalidity expert report, as well as each and every one of the references that 

Nokia asserts in this investigation and still determined that the prior art of record fails to teach 

using a high speed shared control channel to combine user equipment identification data and Yz 

rate convolutional encoding to produce a scrambled code. (CX-0025 at IDC-ITC-Ol 0495601.) In 

other words the .. Examiner having considered the prior art, including said asserted references, 

stated in the "examiner's statement of reasons for allowance" ofthe '540 patent application that 

"the prior art of record fails to teach using a high speed shared control channel to combine user 

equipment identification data and is rate convolutional encoding to produce a scrambled code." 

(CX-25 at IDC-ITC-OI0495601 (emphasis added).) Although these asserted references were not 

cited during prosecution of the '579 patent application (Tr. at 852:21-853:15; 854:3-11; CX-5 at 

1), the administrative law judge finds that the Examiner in the '540 patent application determined 

that the pending claims of the '540 patent application were sufficiently overlapping in scope with 

claims 1-10 in the '579 patent as to warrant double patenting rejections under 35 U.S.C. § 101, in 

response to which a terminal disclaimer was filed for the '579 patent. (CX-25 at 

IDC-ITC-010495633 and IDC-ITC-010495645.) 

Based on the foregoing, the administrative law judge finds that respondents have not 
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shown, by clear and convincing evidence, that the "Yz rate convolutional encoder" limitation of 

asserted claims 1, 3 and 4 would have been obvious to persons skilled in the art and that 

respondents have not shown, by clear and convincing evidence, that said claims are invalid over 

the asserted references, alone or in combination. 

H. Enforceability 

Respondents argued that while the alleged invention of the' 579 patent directly flowed 

from InterDigital's participation in the 3GPP WGI meetings, and the purported invention was 

merely a trivial update on someone else's idea; that InterDigital failed to cite a single prior art 

publication from 3GPP leading up to the alleged invention of the 579 patent, even though all 

three inventors were unquestionably aware of that art; and that such intentional withholding of 

"material" prior art renders the 579 patent unenforceable. (RBr at Sec. III, pp. 68-69.) 

Specifically, re3pondents argued that the materials not disclosed by InterDigital during 

prosecution ofthe '579 patent are the Motorola Way Forward Proposal (RX-59), the Siemens 482 

Proposal (RX-60), the 3GPP TS 25.212 v5.0.0 standard (RX-38), the Motorola 610 Proposal 

(RX-1214), and TR 25.858 (RX-1211); that the European Patent Office in two different 

application rejected claims that were identical and substantially similar to the '579 patent on the 

Motorola 610 Proposal; that the Japanese Patent Office rejected another foreign counterpart to 

the '579 patent based on 3GPP WG 1 prior ali documents; that the 3GPP prior art documents are 

not cumulative because the only reference cited by the Examiner during prosecution of the '579 

patent application were two patents to Moon which did not disclose the arrangement ofthe '579 

patent; that all three InterDigital inventors were aware of the 3GPP prior art documents because 

they regularly attended the 3GPP WG 1 meetings were the said prior art was discussed; and that 
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the most telling evidence of InterDigital's intent is the material that it disclosed in its provisional 

applications but later removed from the utility application that led to the '579 patent. (RBr at Sec. 

III, pp. 69-76.) 

Complainants argued that respondents' inequitable conduct defense fails for at least three 

reasons; that first, none of the asserted references are material because they do not teach or 

suggest the use of a Yz rate convolutional encoder for generating a scrambling sequence; that 

second, the asserted references are cumulative to the admitted prior art before the Examiner of 

the '579 patent application because they disclose earlier implementations of the HS-SCCH that 

are described in the '579 patent; and that third, there is no intent to deceive because there is no 

evidence that any of the inventors or the prosecuting attorney considered these references to be 

material. (CBr at 168.) 

The staff argued (hat no evidence was presented at the hearing that clearly and 

convincingly showed that there was any intent to mislead or deceive the Patent Office and that 

accordingly the evidence did not clearly and convincingly show that the '579 patent is 

unenforceable due to inequitable conduct. (SBr at 68-9.) 

Failing to disclose material information to the Patent Office during prosecution, or 

submitting false material information or statements, coupled with an intent to mislead or deceive 

the Patent Office, constitutes inequitable conduct, which renders a patent unenforceable. See 

Flex-Rest, LLC v. Steelcase, Inc., 455 F.3d 1351, 1362 (Fed. Cir. 2006). "Materiality" and 

"intent" must both be proven by clear and convincing evidence. See Kingsdown Med. 

Consultants, Ltd. v. Hollister, Inc., 863 F.2d 867, 872 (Fed. Cir. 1988) (en banc). "Once 

threshold findings of materiality and intent are established, the trial court must weigh them to 
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determine whether the equities warrant a conclusion that inequitable conduct occurred." Flex­

Rest, 455 F.3d at 1363 (quoting Purdue Pharma L.P. v. Endo Pharma. Inc., 438 F.3d 1123, 1128 

(Fed. Cir. 2006)). 

Respondents, in support of their allegation, argued that while each of the Way Forward 

Solutions, Siemens 482 Proposal, Motorola 610 Proposal, 3GPP TS 25.212 v5.0.0, and TR 

25.858 v.2.0.0 were never disclosed to the USPTO in the '579 patent application (RRSPFFVI. 

lA), each of those disclose the use of a Y2 rate convolution encoder in the data path ofHS-SCCH 

scrambling (RRSPFF VI.IB); that at the evidentiary hearing respondents' expert Kakaes testified 

that the Way Forward Solution, the Siemens 482 Proposal, and the Motorola 610 Proposal each 

rendered the claims ofthe '579 patent obvious (RRSOFFVI.lD); and that one or more of the 

inventors were aware of each of the Way Forward Solution, Siemens 482 Proposal, Motorola 610 

Proposal, 3GPP TS 25.212 v5.0.0, and TR 25.858 v.2.0.0 (RRSPFF VI.H.) 

While complainants admit that Y2 rate convolutional encoders were known in the art as 

stated in the '579 patent (CBr at 168) and respondents' expert Kakaes admitted that a half-rate 

convolutional encoder would have been something a person of ordinary skill in the art would 

have been familiar with in early 2002, it is undisputed that the Motorola "Way Forward" RI-02-

0463, Siemens RA-02-0482, Motorola RI-02-0610, and TS 25.212 v5.0.0 references all disclose 

the use of a Y2 rate convolutional encoder in the HS-SCCH for the traditional purpose of 

encoding. (CFF 5.26 (undisputed) (emphasis added).) Moreover it is also undisputed that the 

specification of the' 579 patent specifically states that because Y2 rate convolutional encoder are 

already used in existing 3GPP WCDMS systems, no additional hardware is required. (CFF 5.81 

(undisputed).) It is further undisputed that the '579 patent discloses that high speed shared 
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control channels are used in HSDP A; that the' 579 patent discloses that a UE identification 

specific scrambling sequence is used in the high speed shared control channels; that the' 579 

patent discloses that a 10 bit UE ID had been used as the basis for the UE ID specific scrambling 

sequence; that the '579 patent discloses that it was proposed to extend the length of the UE ID to 

16 bits; that the '579 patent discloses that Yz convolutional encoders were being used in current 

3GPP WCDMA systems for forward error correction; and that the '579 patent discloses that 

because Yz rate convolutional encoders were being used in current 3GPP WCDMA systems for 

forward error correction, no additional hardware is required to generate the convolutinally 

encoded UE ID specific scrambling sequence. (CFF 5.61-64, 5.66-67 (all undisputed).) The 

administrative law judge finds the admitted prior art in the' 579 patent, supra is cumulative to the 

references relied on by respondents. Significantly, he finds nothing in the references relied on by 

respondents to teach or suggest using a Yz rate convolutional encoder to generate the scrambling 

sequence as claimed in the '579 patent. Thus with respect to the asserted Motorola Way Forward 

Proposal (RX-59), it is undisputed that complainants' expert Gitlin testified that said reference 

does not disclose any means of generating said scrambling sequence and instead discloses that 

the actual method for generating the UE-ID based scrambling sequence is to be determined. (CFF 

4.10 and 4.16 (both undisputed).) The administrative law judge finds that said reference merely 

discloses using a scrambling sequence based on a UE ID (RX-59 at 1; Tr. at 800:18-801:2.) The 

administrative law judge also finds that said reference is cumulative because it is undisputed that 

the '579 patent itself already discloses in its background section that a UE identification specific 

scrambling sequence is used in the high speed shared control channels. (CFF 5.62 (undisputed).) 

Referring to the asserted Siemens 482 Proposal (RX-60), it is undisputed that 
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complainants' expert Gitlin testified that said reference does not disclose use of a half-rate 

convolutional code as a scrambling sequence generator and that respondents' expert Kakaes 

admits that Siemens in said reference did not propose using a half-rate convolutional encoder to 

generate a scrambling sequence. (CFF 4.7 and 4.11 (both undisputed).) Similarly, with respect to 

the Motorola 610 Proposal (RX-1214), it is undisputed that complainants' expert Gitlin testified 

that said reference does not disclose use of a half-rate convolutional encoder as a scrambling 

sequence generator and that respondents' expert Kakaes admits that Motorola in said reference 

did not propose using a half-rate convolutional encoder to generate a DE ID-specific scrambling 

sequence. (CFF 4.8 and 4.12 (both undisputed).) As discussed supra, both the Siemens 482 

Proposal and the Motorola 610 Proposal discloses a (32, 10) Reed-Muller block encoder that 

converts a 10 bit DE ID into a 32 bit output:(RX-60 at 1; Tr. at 1868:10-21; RX-1214 at 1; Tr. at 

1868:22-1869:8.) The administrative lawtudge finds that the background section of the '579 

patent already discloses the use of a Reed-Muller block encoder to generate a 40 bit scrambling 

sequence from a 10 bit DE ID for the high-speed shared control channel. (CX-5 at 1 :42-49; Tr. 

796:8-797:16.) 

Withe respect to the 3GPP TS 25.212 v5.0.0 standard (RX-38), it is undisputed that said 

standard incorporates the Siemens 482 Proposal. (CFF 5.12 (undisputed).) 

Referring to TR 25.858 (RX-1211), the administrative law judge finds that said reference 

{ 

} The administrative law judge further finds that the 

background section ofthe '579 patent already discloses that "[u]ntil recently, a 10 bit DE ID was 
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used as the basis for the UE ID specific scrambling sequence" and that "[i]n this case, this UE ID 

was converted into a 40 bit scrambling sequence." (CX-5 at 1 :41-43.) 

In addition, the administrative law judge found supra that during prosecution of U.S. 

Patent No. 7,349,540 (CX-26), a continuation of the '579 patent, the Examiner in charge 

indicated that he had considered each of the Motorola Way Forward Proposal, the Siemens 482 

Proposal, and the Motorola 610 Proposal, and thereafter stated in the "examiner's statement of 

reasons for allowance" of the '540 patent application that "the prior art of record fails to teach 

using a high speed shared control channel to combine user equipment identification data and Yz 

rate convolutional encoding to produce a scrambled code." (CX-25 at IDC-ITC-OI0495665 

(Motorola 610 Proposal); CX-25 at DC-ITC010495567 (Motorola Way Forward Proposal and 

Siemens 482 Proposal); CX-25 at IDC-ITC-O 1049560 l.j 

Based on the foregoing, the administrativeclaw judge finds that the references asserted by 

respondents are not material to the '579 patent and 'are cumulative to the description of the state 

of the art already disclosed by the background section of the '579 patent. 

The administrative law judge further finds that respondents have not established any 

intent to deceive the Patent Office by the inventors on the '579 patent or the prosecuting attorney 

of the '579 patent. { 

} 

{ 

} 
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{ } 

(JX-24C at 97-980.) { 

} Inventor Dick when asked about the 

3GPP Working Group documents testified, "[i]t was background information. That's all it was." 

(Tr. at 797.) 

Based on the foregoing, the administrative law judge finds that respondents have not 

established, by clear and convincing evidence, that the '579 patent is unenforceable. 

VI. Waiver And Patent Misuse 

Nokia argued that the evidence establishes that InterDigital not only deliberately shaped 

its patenting process to read on industry standards, but also intertionally delayed its filing of 

essentiality declarations to ensure that the industry became "locked in" to standards it alleged 

read on its Intellectual Property Rights (IPR), so that it could force those practicing the standards 

to take a license to its patents; and that this intentional and deceptive conduct renders the asserted 

patents unenforceable against Nokia's UMTS products under the related equitable doctrines of 

patent misuse and/or waiver. (RBr at Sec. IV, p. 10.) 

Each of complainants and the staff has argued that respondents have not established the 

defense of patent misuse and/or waiver. 

Respondents, in support of their waiver and patent misuse allegation, argued that based 

on InterDigital's failure to timely disclose IPR as required by the European Telecommunication 

Standards Institute (ETSI), as well as InterDigital's efforts to conceal this IPR and others from 

other ETSI members, InterDigital has waived its ability to enforce the '579 patent against 
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HSDPA26 compliant products, citing Qualcomm, Inc. v. Broadcom Corp., 548 F.3d 1004, 1022 

(Fed. Cir. 2008). (RBr at Sec. IV, p. 15.) 

Complainants argued that respondents first presented this "hybrid defense" of 

misuse/waiver a few days before the start of the evidentiary hearing under the guise of a 

"corrected" prehearing statement; that this was not a "correction," but rather was an assertion of a 

new defense theory; and that pursuant to ground rule 9(iv), this new defense theory was waived. 

InterDigital nonetheless did address this "frivolous defense" on the merits, and argued that 

respondents mischaracterize the law in an attempt to excuse their complete lack of proofs and 

further have failed to present any credible evidence to support their defense. (CRBr at 95-9.) 

The staff noted that Nokia filed a revised Pre-hearing Brief on May 15,2009, which was 

after the staff had filed its pre-hearing brief and was a mere five business days before the start of 

the evidentiary hearing, that Nokia's May 15 brief contained substantial revisions to Nokia's 

theory of patent misuse, which revisions were provided too late and that accordingly, pursnant to 

ground rule 9(vi), Nokia's revised theory of patent misuse should be deemed waived. Thus the 

staff in its SBr only treated Nokia's theory of patent misuse as set forth in Nokia's April 13, 

2009, pre-hearing brief and argued that the evidence does not support a finding of patent misuse. 

(SBr at 70-1.) 

In issue is whether respondents' May 15, 2009 pre-hearing brief contained substantial 

revisions and/a new defense theory, as argued by complainants and the staff, and if so whether 

respondents' "revised theory of patent misuse should be deemed waived pursuant to ground rule 

9 (vi). 

26 "HSDP A" stands for - High Speed Downlink Packet Access - -. See RBr at Sec. III, 
p. 2 and RFF III - 94. 
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As a preliminary matter, the administrative law judge finds the "Table Of Authorities" in 

Nokia's May 15,2009 brief confusing. For example In re Rambus Inc., Docket No. 9302,2006 

WL 233017 (F.T.C. Aug. 2,2006) (Rambus) is indicated to be on "IV-27". The same in 

indicated for Stamblerv. Diebold, Inc., 11 U.S.P.Q.2d 1709 C.E.D.N.Y 1988) and Potter 

Instrument Co. v. Storage Techn. Corp. 207 U.S.P.Q. 763 (E.D. Va. 1980). However those three 

cases are not found on "IV-27" ofthe May 15,2009 brief. To the contrary while they are not 

cited and thus not relied upon, in section VI B of respondents' May 15,2009 pre-hearing brief 

which is titled "Other Unenforceability Defenses", they are relied upon in respondents' April 13, 

2009 pre-hearing brief. 

The administrative law judge, on comparing respondents' pre-hearing brief of May ] 5, 

2009 with respondents' prehearing brief of April 13, 2009 further finds that s:lid May 15 brief 

does contain mbstantial revisions including a new defense theory. Thus in addition to not relying 

on Rambus, respondents in the introductory paragraph of said section IV.B of the May 15 pre-

hearing brief relies on Oualcomm Inc. v. Broadcom Corp. 548 F.3d 1004, 1021 (Fed. Cir. 2008) 

(not cited in the April 13, 2009 pre-hearing brief) stating: 

The evidence at the hearing will show that InterDigital not only 
deliberately shaped its patenting process to read on industry standards such as the 
UMTS standard at issue here, but also intentionally delayed its filing of 
essentiality declarations to ensure that the industry became "locked in" to 
standards it alleged read on its patents, so that it could force those practicing the 
standards to take a license to its patents. When a company is obligated to disclose 
its intellectual-property claims to a standard-setting body, but intentionally fails to 
do so, it constitutes actionable deceptive conduct. See, ~ Qualcomm, Inc. v. 
Broadcom Corp., 548 F.3d 1004, 1021 (Fed. Cir. 2008) [Qualcomm] (holding that 
the intentional concealment in face of a duty to speak, of IPR that reasonably 
might be necessary to practice a particular standard, renders that IPR 
unenforceable against those practicing the standard); Broadcom Corp. v. 
Qualcomm, Inc., 501 F .3d 297, 314 (3d Cir. 2007). Under these circumstances, 
the asserted patents are unenforceable under the related equitable doctrines of 
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patent misuse and/or waiver. 

In view of the substantial revisions including a new defense theory in respondents' May 

15, 2009 pre-hearing brief, the administrative law judge finds that respondents' revised theory of 

patent misuse has been waived pursuant to ground rule 9(vi). However, should the Commission 

find that there has been no waiver, the administrative law judge is treating the arguments 

addressed in respondents' pre-hearing brief of May 15,2009 and their post-hearing submissions. 

Respondents argued that the Federal Circuit in Oualcomm found that Qualcomm waived 

its ability to enforce its patents against Broadcom and other entities implementing the H.264 

standard because Qualcomm failed to disclose the existence of the patents prior to the adoption 

of the standard, citing Id. at 1022; that the Court noted that because Qualcomm's infringement 

contentions were based on Broadcom's practice of the H.264 standard, the patents cl~arly fell 

,', within the "reasonably might be necessary to practice" standard, and thus, shoul.j have been 

disclosed, citing. Id. at 1018- 19; that further, the Court determined that applying the equitable 

doctrine of waiver was appropriate because Qualcomm intentionally organized a plan of action to 

shield its patents from the standards body, citing Id. at 1020-21; that finally, in response to 

Qualcomm's argument that Broadcom was not harmed by the nondisclosure because Qualcomm 

was willing to license its patents, the Court stated that: 

Even if Qualcomm agreed not to pursue an injunction in this case, 
injunctions are not the only type of harm. Forcing a party to accept 
a license and pay whatever fee the licensor demands, or to undergo 
the uncertainty and cost of litigation (which in this case was 
substantial), are significant burdens. 

citing Id. at 1021; and that based on these facts, the Federal Circuit in Qualcomm held that 

Qualcomm's patents were unenforceable against H.264 compliant products. (RBr IV-II.) 
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It is argued that InterDigital cannot dispute that it should have disclosed timely the 579 

invention to ETSI members; that the fact that InterDigital originally based its claim for 

infringement on Nokia's handsets being compliant with the 3GPP TS 25.212 (HSDPA) 

standard (RFF IV-137 (undisputed)), coupled with InterDigital's eventual declaration ofthe '579 

invention as essential in 2004 establish that InterDigital breached a duty to disclose, citing 

Qualcornrn, 548 F.3d at 1018-19. (RBr at Sec. IV, p. 13.) It is also argued that InterDigital's 

impermissible expansion of the scope of the power ramp-up patents, their failure to timely 

disclose them to ETSI, and their efforts to seek an injunction based thereon is contrary to public 

policy and constitutes patent misuse and for that reason, the power ramp-up patents are 

unenforceable. (RBr at Sec. IV, p. 16.) 

At the outset while respondents argued that InterDigital declared U.S. Appl. N0. 

10.187,640 which later issued as the '579 patent essential to ETSI on April 8,2004 (CX-625C at 

IDC-ITC-000069537) (RFF VI-153),{ 

} 

Moreover in Qualcornrn, the standards body at issue (JVT) had a defined IPR policy that required 

its members to use best efforts to declare all relevant patents at the time a proposal was 

submitted. Qualcornrn, 548 F.3d at 1014. JVT had a further policy requiring disclosure of all 

patents relevant to the standard before final approval of the standard. Id. at 1015. The Federal 

Circuit in addition emphasized that JVT had a stated goal of creating a royalty-free baseline for 

the standard, which was the critical factor in determining the importance of JBT's members' 

obligation to disclose patents when making contributions, Id. at 1013-14. Also Qualcornrn 

involved a knowing a non-disclosure of patents to the standards body and a knowing non-
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disclosure of the membership in the standards body during litigation that resulted in sanctions 

against Qualcomm's attorneys. Id. at 1009-10, 1022, 1027. 

In the present investigation the administrative law judge finds that respondents have not 

established that Inter Digital knowingly and intentionally relinquished any rights because, unlike 

Qualcomm, InterDigital declared their patents to ETSI. Thus InterDigital disclosed u.s. Patent 

Application No. 10/187,640, which was filed on July 1,2002 and which issued as the '579 patent 

to ETSI on April 8, 2004 and declared that it was prepared to comply with the ETSI policies 

concerning FRAND licensing. (CX5, RX0248-043.) (CFF 7.52 (undisputed).) InterDigital 

disclosed the '004 patent, which was filed on June 14,2004, to ETSI on March 21,2008 and 

declared that it was prepared to comply with the ETSI policies concerning FRAND licensing. 

(CX1, CX585C at IDC-ITC008437378.) InterDigital disclosed the '966 patent, which was filed 

on June,2Y, 2005, to ETSJ on March 21, 2007 and declared that it was prepared to comply with 

the ETSI policies concerning FRAND licensing (CX2, CX585C at IDC-ITC008437378.) 

InterDigital disclosed u.s. Patent Application No, 11/169,425, which was filed on June 29, 

20054, and which issued as the' 847 patent to ETSI on March 21, 2007 and declared that it was 

prepared to comply with the ETSI policies concerning FRAND licensing. (CX3, CX585C at 

IDC-ITC008437378.) The '004, '966 and '847 patents all claim priority back to u.s. Patent Nos. 

6,181,949 and 5,841,768. InterDigital disclosed u.s. Patent Nos. 6,181,949 and 5,841,768 to 

ETSI on April 10, 2001. (RX0353-006.) In addition the administrative law judge in Section IV 

H supra has found no prosecution laches relating to the power ramp-up patents. 

Also the administrative law judge agrees with complainants that even if Oualcomm were 

applicable respondents have not established, by clear and convincing evidence: (1) that ETSI's 
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IPR policy requires the disclosure of essential patents at the time a proposal is made or at least, 

before the standard is finalized; (2) that InterDigital understood when InterDigital was making 

proposals that ETSI's IPR policy required disclosure ofInterDigital's patents at that time; and (3) 

that InterDigital intentionally breached ETSI's policy. See Qualcomm at 1022, 1026. See also 

Oualcomm Inc. v. Broadcom Corp., 05-CV-1958-B, 2007 WL 1031373, at *9 (S.D. Cal. Mar. 

21,2007) and Jazz Photo Corp. v. lnt'! Trade Comm'n, 264 F.3d 1094, 1102 (Fed. Cir. 2004). 

Based on the foregoing, the administrative law judge finds that complainants have not 

waived their ability to enforce the' 579 patent against HSDP A compliant products. 

VII. Domestic Industry 

The domestic industry requirement has been satisfied based on complainants' licensing 

activities, see Order l'Jo. 43 (March 10,200) (unreviewed). 

VIII. Remedy',-

Complainants argued that the evidence demonstrates that the appropriate remedies 

include a limited exclusion order prohibiting the importation of: (1) all of Nokia's infringing 3G 

mobile handsets; and (2) all components of Nokia's infringing 3G mobile handsets; and that the 

appropriate remedy should also include a cease-and-desist order directed to Nokia. It is argued 

that a limited exclusion order directed to Nokia's infringing 3G mobile handsets is necessary to 

prevent continued importation of those products into the United States which remedy is provided 

for under 19 U.S.C. § 1337(d); that there is no controversy that such a limited exclusion order is 

appropriate if Nokia has violated Section 337; that a limited exclusion order should be directed to 

the components of Nokia's infringing handsets in order to avoid Nokia circumventing the 

exclusion order by importing the infringing products "in parts" and reassembling them after entry 
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in the United States; that entry of a cease-and-desist order against Nokia is appropriate in the 

event the Commission finds a violation of Section 337; that a cease-and-desist order is 

appropriate where the evidence demonstrates the presence of commercially significant inventory 

in the United States, citing Certain Crystalline Cefadroxil Monohydrate, Inv. No. 337-TA-293, 

Commission Opinion on Remedy, the Public Interest and Bonding at 37-42, USITC Pub. 2391 

(June 1991); and that the evidence demonstrates that Nokia's own flagship stores in Chicago and 

New York, or its carrier partners and distributors, AT&T Wireless and T -Mobile, maintain 

commercially significant inventory of infringing devices in the United States. (CBr at 195-6.) 

Respondents argued that because Nokia's accused products do not infringe the claims of 

InterDigital's asserted patents, no remedy should issue; that in the event infringement of valid 

patents were to be found, the Commission would have broad discretion to select the form, scope 

and extent of the remedy, citing Hyundai Elecs. Indus. Co. v. U. S. Int 'I Trade Comm'n, 899 

F.2d 1204, 1208-09 (Fed. Cir. 1990); that although the Commission determines final relief after 

considering the public interest, it is within the Commission's discretion to deny relief, 

irrespective of the public interest, when the facts so dictate, citing Certain Condensers, Parts 

Thereof and Products Containing Same, Including Air Conditioners for Automobiles, Inv. No. 

337-TA-33Ll., Recommended Determination (Dec. 1996); that the facts dictate that result here; 

that a cease and desist order is only appropriate where a complainant can establish the existence 

of commercially significant inventories of post-importation accused products, citing Certain 

Electronic Programmable Read-onl), Memories, Inv. No. 337-TA-395, Comm'n Op. (July 9, 

1998) and Certain Lens-Fitted Film Packages, Inv. No. 337-TA-406, Consolidated Enforcement 

Advisory Opinion Proceedings, Comm'n Op. (June 23,2003); that InterDigital has not shown that 
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Nokia maintains a commercially significant inventory ofthe accused handsets in the United 

States; and that accordingly, "such orders" are not appropriate in this investigation. (RBr at Sec. 

V, p. 1, Sec. V, p. 2.) 

In a subsequent filing respondents, as to any cease and desist order, argued that at most, 

InterDigital has alleged that certain third parties such as AT&T Wireless and T-Mobile maintain 

inventories of Nokia's handsets; that although InterDigital has not provided any documents or 

facts to substantiate this allegation, even if it had, such inventories would have no bearing on 

whether a cease and desist order is appropriate, citing,~, Certain Light-Emitting Diodes and 

Products Containing Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-512, Comm'n Det. at 8 (Apr. 14,2008) (Diodes) 

and that accordingly a cease and desist order is not appropriate in this investigation. (RRBr at 98-

9.) 

The staff, inasmuch as jt does not believe that the preponderance of the evidence 

demonstrated that any asserted claim is infringed, does not believe that any exclusion order or 

cease and desist order should be awarded to InterDigitiil. However if a violation is found, then 

the staff believes that a limited exclusion order against the respondents found to infringe would 

be the appropriate recommendation. To the extent any of the respondents who are found to be in 

violation maintain in the United States a commercially significant inventory of infringing 

products, the staff argued that a cease and desist order also would be an appropriate 

recommendation. (SBr at 71-2.) 

The Commission "has broad discretion in selecting the form, scope, and extent of the 

remedy in Section 337 proceedings." Certain Integrated Circuit Telecommunication Chips, Inv. 

No. 337-TA-337, (Comm'n Op.) at 21 (August 3, 1993). Pursuant to its statutory authority 
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found at 19 U.S.c. § 1337 (d), the Commission may exclude from importation goods and 

products that form the basis for a finding of a violation of Section 337 which includes products 

that have been found to infringe the patents-in-issue directly, contributorily or by inducement 

after importation has occurred. Certain Flash Memory Circuits, Inv. No. 337-TA-382, (Comm'n 

Opn.) at 26 (June 26, 1997) ("The Commission has the authority to enter an exclusion order, a 

cease and desist order, or both."). Indeed, absent special circumstances, the statute requires such 

exclusion: 

If the Commission determines ... that there is a violation of this 
section, it shall direct that the articles concerned ... be excluded 
from entry into the United States, unless, after considering the 
public health and welfare, competitive conditions in the United 
States economy, the production of like or directly competitive 
articles in the United States, and United States consumers, it finds 
that such articles should not be excluded from entry. 

19 U.S.C. § 1337(d) (emphasis addt~d). Hence, a remedy excluding Samsung's infringing 

products from entry is mandatory if a violation of section 337 is found, unless the Commission 

finds that public interest factors militate against such remedy .. 

In addition, the scope of an investigation is defined by the notice of investigation. Certain 

Chemiluminescent Compositions, Inv. No. 337-TA-285, Commission Order (Jan. 13, 1989) 

(scope of investigation is defined by the notice of investigation). Thus any exclusion order may 

cover all products within that scope, i.e., "the articles concerned." 19 U.S.C. § 1337(d)(I). 

Moreover, Commission remedial orders have covered all products that infringe and are not 

limited to specified models or products. Certain Optical Disk Controller Chips and Chip sets and 

Products Containing Same, Including DVD Players and PC Optical Storage Devices, Inv. No. 

337-TA-506, Commission Opinion at 56 (August 7,2006) (public version)). 
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The Commission also has the authority to issue cease and desist orders where a 

respondent has a sufficient inventory of infringing goods in the United States," Certain NAND 

Flash Memory Circuits, Inv. No. 337-TA-526, Initial Determ. at 255 (Oct. 19,2005) (citing 

Certain Plastic Encapsulated Integrated Circuits, Inv. No. 337-TA-315, U.S.I.T.C. Pub. No. 

2574, Comm'n Op. at 37 (November 1992).); Certain Crystalline Cefadroxil Monohydrate, Inv. 

No. 337-TA-293, Comm. Op. at 6 (Jan. 19, 1990). 

In the event a violation is found, the administrative law judge recommends the issuance 

of a limited exclusion order prohibiting the importation into the United States of infringing 

articles, regardless of brand name, "that are manufactured abroad or imported by or on behalf of 

[the respondents], or any of their affiliated companies, parents, subsidiaries, or other related 

business entities, or their successors or assigns." See Certain Laser Bar Code Scanners and Scan 

Engines, Components Thereof, and Products Containing Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-551, Limited 

Exclusion Order, ~ 1 (May 30, 2007). Moreover, he recommends that said order should not be 

limited to specifically-identified products, but rather extend to all infringing products. See ~, 

Certain Integrated Repeaters, Switches, Transceivers and Products Containing Same, Inv. No. 

337-TA-435, Commission Opinion at 23, USITC Pub. 3547 (Oct. 2002). 

With respect to issuance of any cease and desist order, the Commission in Diodes 

Comm'n Det, at 8 supra did state: 

we have declined to issue a cease and desist order because, 
although qsram points to evidence suggesting that there are 
commercially significant domestic inventories of infringing 
Dominant LEDs, see~, CX-133%, CX-1337, CX-1338C, we 
agree with the ALl that Osram has not shown that Dominant 
maintains those inventories. Instead, it is clear that the inventories 
identified by Osram are owned by third parties. 
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However complainants' CFF 146 reads: 

Respondents Nokia Corporation and Nokia Inc. have manufactured 
abroad, imported into the United States, and sold in the United 
States after importation N-75, N-95, 6555, 6750, and 6350 
handsets. (SX-2C; see Nokia's Flagship Stores in New York and 
Chicago, http://www.nokiausa.com/vi sitastore/fagshipstores: 
Nokia's products available for sale online, 
http://www.nokiausa.com/buv-onlinel Nokia's products available 
for sale in the United States, http://vvww.nokiausa.comltind­
products: Nokia's products available for sale through its carrier 
partner AT&T, http://www.wireless.att.com!cell-phone­
service/cell-phones/nokia.jsp; Nokia's products available for sale 
through its carrier partner T-Mobile, http://www-t-
mo bile. corn! shop/phones.) 

Nokia has objected to said proposed finding on the ground that it improperly cites to evidence 

not admitted into record. However, the administrative law judge has taken notice of the websites 

for Nokia's Flagship Stores in New York and Chicago. Based on those websites, the 

administrative law judge recommends appropriatocease and desist orders should a violation be 

found. 

IX. Bond 

{ 

} Accordingly, the imposition of a bond 

in this investigation is not recommended. 
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X. Additional Findings of Fact 

1. Complainant InterDigital Communications, LLC is a Pennsylvania limited 

liability company with its principal place of business at 781 Third Avenue, King of Prussia, 

Pennsylvania 19406-1409. (CX-142 at ~ 6.) 

2. InterDigital Communications, LLC was previously known as InterDigital 

Communications Corporation, but in connection with an internal corporate reorganization, 

effective July 3,2007, InterDigital Communications Corporation (a Pennsylvania corporation) 

became InterDigital Communications, LLC (a Pennsylvania limited liability company). (CX-142 

at pg. 2, footnote 5.) 

3. Complainant InterDigital Technology Corporation is a Delaware corporation with 

its principal place of business at Hagley Building, Suite 105,3411 Silverside Road, Concord 

Plaza, Wilmington, Delaware 19810-4812. (CX-142 at ~ 6.) 

4. InterDigital Communications, LLC and InterDigital Technology Corporation are 

subsidiaries of InterDigital, Inc., a Pennsylvania corporation. (CX-142 at ~ 6.) 

5. Respondent Nokia Corporation is a Finnish corporation with its principal place of 

business at Keilalahdentie 2-4, P.O. Box 226, FIN-00045 Nokia Group, Finland. (CX-142 at ~ 

10; CX-1589C at ~ 10.) 

6. Respondent Nokia Corporation is involved in the design, development, and 

manufacture of3G mobile handsets through its Mobile Phones Business Group. (CX-I42 at ~ 

10; CX-1589C at ~ 10.) 

7. Respondent Nokia Inc. is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of 

business at 6000 Connection Drive, Irving, Texas 75039. (CX-I42 at ~ 11; CX-I589C at ~ 11.) 
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8. Respondent Nokia Inc. (d/b/a Nokia Mobile Phones) distributes Nokia-branded 

handsets in the United States. (CX-142 at 1 11; CX-1589C at 111.) 
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CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. The Commission has in personam and in rem jurisdiction. 

2. There has been an importation of accused 3G mobile handsets into 

the United States which are the subject ofthe unfair trade 

allegations. 

3. The asserted claims of '004 the patent are not infringed. 

4. The asserted claims of the '966 patent are not infringed. 

5. The asserted claims of the '847 patent are not infringed. 

6. The asserted claims of the '579 patent are not infringed. 

7. A domestic industry exists with respect to the patents in issue. 

8. 

9. 

The asserted claims of the '004 patent are not invalid. 

The asserted claims of the '966 patent are not invalid. 

10. The asserted claims of the '847 patent are not invalid. 

11. The asserted claims of the' 579 patent are not invalid. 

12. There is no prosecution laches relating to the '004, '966 and '847 

patents. 

13. The '574 patent is enforceable. 

14. There is no waiver and patent misuse with respect to the patents in 

issue. 

15. The evidence establishes that there is no violation of section 337. 

16. In the event a violation of section 337 is found, the evidence shows 

that the appropriate remedy barring entry of infringing 3G mobile 
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handsets and components thereof are a limited exclusion order, and 

cease and desist orders. 

17. There is no evidence to support the issuance of a bond in the 

Presidential Review period. 

ORDER 

Based on the foregoing, and the record as a whole, it is the administrative law judge's 

Final Initial Determination that there is no violation of section 337 in the importation into the 

United States, sale for importation, and sale within the United States after importation of 3G 

mobile handsets and components thereof. It is also the administrative law judge's 

recommendation, should a violation be found, that a limited exclusion order issue barring entry 

into the United States of infringing 3G mobile handsets and components thereof and that 

appropriate cease and desist orders should issue. 

The administrative law judge hereby CERTIFIES to the Commission his Final Initial and 

Recommended Determinations. Also ALJ exhibits ALJ-Ex. 1 to ALJ-Ex. 8 have been submitted 

to the Secretary for addition to the official record in this investigation. The briefs of the parties, 

filed with the Secretary, are not certified, since they are already in the Commission's possession 

in accordance with Commission rules. 

Further it is ORDERED that: 

1. In accordance with Commission rule 210.39, all material heretofore marked in 

camera because of business, financial and marketing data found by the administrative law judge 

to be cognizable as confidential business information under Commission rule 201.6(a), is to be 

given in camera treatment continuing after the date this investigation is terminated. 

244 



2. Counsel for the parties shall have in the hands of the administrative taw judge 

those portions of the final initial and recommended determinations which contain bracketed 

confidential business information to be deleted from any public version of said determinations, 

no later than August 25,2009. Any such bracketed version shall not be served via facsimile on 

the administrative law judge. If no such bracketed version is received from a party, it will mean 

that the party has no objection to removing the confidential status, in its entirety, from these 

initial and recommended determinations. 

3. The initial determination portion of the Final Initial and Recommended 

., 

Determinations, issued pursuant to Commission rules 21 0.42 (a) and 210.42-46, shall become the 

determination of the Commission, unless the Commission, within that period, shall have ordered 

its review of certain issues therein or by order has changed the effective date of the initial 

determination portion. The recommended determination portion, issued pursuant to Commission 

rule 210.42(a)(1)(ii), will be considered by the Commission in reaching a determination on 

remedy pursuant to Commission rule 210.50(a). 

Issued: August 14, 2009 
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